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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

June 30, 2011

Honorable Mayor

Members of the City Council
Treasurer

City of Dunkirk

Punkirk, New York 14048

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units and each major
fund of the City of Dunkirk, New York, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, which
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the {able of contents. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the City of Dunkirk, New Yorli(’s management. Our
responsibility is {0 express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We did
not audit the financial statements of the Dunkirk Housing Authority, which is shown as a
component unit in the financial statements of the City of Dunkirk, New York. Those financial
statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates {0 the amounis included for the Dunkirk Housing Authority, is based
on the report of the other auditors,

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptfroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and the significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented
component units, and each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City
of Dunkirk, New York, as of December 31, 2010, and the respective changes in financial position
and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Governiment Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June
30, 2011, on our consideration of the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts
and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of
our testing of infernal control over financial reporting and compiiance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on



compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that
management's discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison and schedule of funding progress
— other postemployment benefit information on pages 3 through 10 and 44 through 47, be
presented fo supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of
the basic financial staternents, is required by the Governmental Standards Board, who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management's responsas o our inguiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence {0 express an.opinion or provide any assurance,

Our audit was conducied for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Dunkirk, New York's financial statements as a whole. The
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional
analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States,
Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is also not a required part of the basic
financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. [n our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, The accompanying schedule of expenditures
of New York State Department of Transportation assistance as listed in the table of contents is
presented for the purpose of additional analysis as required by the New York State Department of
Transportation and Draft Part 43 of the New York State Codification of Rules and Regulations,
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements, The schedule of expenditures of New
York State Department of Transportation assistance is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in our audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, is fairly
presented in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.
The City's basic financial staternents include the operations of the Dunkirk Housing Authority
which expended $1,312,857 of federal awards which are not included in the City's schedule of
expenditures of federal awards for the year ended December 31, 2010. Our audit, as described
in our report on compliance and internal control over compliance applicable to each major federal
program, did not include the operations of the above entity as other auditors were engaged to
perform such audit in accordance with OMB Circular A-133.

Guivmsans Wachsuristes § Cass oistecd, LLP.

e T e Simarel TR

JOHNSON, MACKOWIAK AND ASSOCIATES, LLP
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CITY OF DUNKIREK, NEW YORK -
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

This discussion and analysis of the City of Dunkirk, New York’s financial performance
provides an overview of the City’s financial activities for the year ended December 31,
2010, This document should be read in conjunction with the City’s financial statements
which begin on page 11.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

o The General Fund reported a $486,105 budgetary surplus for the year ended
December 31, 2010 as shown on page 44. This amount compares to a budgetary
deficit of $556,348 for the year ended December 31, 2009.

e The General Fund reported an operating surplus of $426,486 for the current year as
compared to an operating deficit of $663,916 for 2009.

e The Water Fund had an operating surplus of $320,328 for the current year as
compared with an operating deficit of $424,100 for 2009. Continued Chautauqua
County mandated repairs and upgrades to water infrastructure which were not
anticipated budget items for year 2010.

e The Wastewater Treatment Fund had an operating deficit of $335,202 for 2010 as
compared with an operating deficit of $297,413 for 2009. Phase 3 upgrades to the
Wastewater Treatment Plant were in excess of $250,000 due to unanticipated
administrative and engineering fees to close the project.

e The City’s net assets increased by $1,028,692 as a result of the activity for the year
ended December 31, 2010 as compared to a decrease of approximately $1,108,872 as
a result of 2009 activity.

USING THIS REPORT

The annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net assets
and the statement of activities provide information regarding the City as a whole and
present a longer-term view of the City’s finances. Financial statements for each fund
start on page 13. For governmental activities, these statements show how services were
financed in the overall operation of the City in greater detail than the City-wide financial
statements.



EPORTING THE CITY AS A WHCLE
The Statement of Net Assets and Statement of Activities

The statement of net assets and statement of activities show information about the City as
a whole. These statements include all assets and liabilities of the City using the accrual
basis of accounting which is used by most private-sector companies. All of the current
year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received
or paid.

These two statements report the City’s net assets and the changes to them. The City’s net
assets — the difference between assets and liabilities — is a way to measure the City’s
financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the City’s net
assefs are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.
Other non-financial factors need io be considered, such as changes in the City’s property
tax base and the condition of the City’s roads and infrastructure, to assess the overall
health of the City.

In the statement of net assets and the statement of activities, the City reports all its basic
services as governmental activities. These services include public safety, public works,
economic assistance, health, water tireatment, wastewater tireatment, economic
development and general administration. Property taxes, sales taxes, departmental
income and state and federal aid finance most of these activities.

REPORTING THE CITY’S MOST SIGNIFICANT FUNDS

Fund Financial Statements

Our discussion and analysis of the City’s major funds begin on page 13 and provide
detail of the City’s most significant funds on an individual basis rather than the City
taken as a whole. Some funds are required to be established by state or local law or by
the nature of the federal and state funding for their operation. The City has also
segregated funds to account for their special purpose. Currently the City only utilizes
governmental funds.

Governmental Funds

All funds of the City are considered governmental funds. This Section focuses on how
revenue flows into and out of these funds and the balance of the funds at year-end which
is available for future spending. These funds are reported using the modified accrual
basis of accounting which measures cash and financial asseis that can be readily
converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view
of the City’s general operations and the basic services it provides. This information helps
determine the financial resources that can be spent to finance City programs. The
relationship between the governmental activities (accrual basis) and the governmental
funds (modified accrual basis) is provided in reconciliations on pages 14 and 16.

-4 -



THE CITY AS TRUSTEE

The City is the trustee for assets held — due to a trust arrangement — which can be used
only for the trust beneficiaries. These amounts are excluded from the City-wide financial
statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its day to day operations.
The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reporied are used for their intended
purpose.

THE CITY AS A WHOLE

The City’s combined net assets increased to $14.232 million from $13.204 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. This is a result of an operational surplus of $1.0 million,
This compares to a decrease for the year ended December 31, 2009 of approximately $1.1
million. Our discussion and analysis focuses on the net assets (Table 1) and the changes
in net assets (Table 2) of the City’s governmental activities.

Table 1
Net Assets
(in Thousands)
Governmental Business - Type Total Primary
Activities Actlvities Government
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Assets
Current assets $ 7,744 $ 5628 § - $ - $ 7744 % 5628
Capital assets 23,083 21,377 - - 23,083 21.377
Total assets $ 30827 $ 27005 § - 5 - $ 30,827 § 27,005
Liabilifies
Current liabilities % 7680 $ 4434 §$ - $ - % 7600 § 4434
Long-term portion of obligations 8,905 9,367 - - 8,905 9,367
Total liabilities $ 18595 & 13801 §$ - $ - $ 16595 § 13,801
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt $ 12273 $ 13582 % - $ - $ 12273 $ 13592
Restricted 2,349 2,374 - - 2,349 2,374
Unrestricted {390} (2,762) - - (380) (2,762)
Total net assets $ 14232 $ 13204 § - & - $ 14232 $ 13204




Table 2
Changes in Net Assets
(In Thousands)

Governmental Business - Type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Revenues
Program revenues
Charges for services $ 6663 $5719 & - s - $ 6663 § 5719
Operating grants and contributions 1,831 1,701 - - 1,831 1,701
Capital grants and confributions 450 2 - - 450 2
General revenues
Property taxes 4,660 4,505 . - 4,560 4,505
Sales tax 2,223 2,157 - - 2,223 2,157
FPILOT payments 3,217 3,188 - - 3,217 3,188
Investment eamings 54 . 18 - - 54 15
Miscellaneous 2,629 2,561 - - 2,629 2,561
Total revenues © 21,727 19,838 - - 21,727 19,938
Program expenses

Councll 58 56 - - 58 56
Mayor 155 149 - - 155 149
Financial 587 544 - - 867 544
Staff 740 766 - - 740 766
Shared services 735 667 - - 735 667
Special items 366 436 - - 366 436
Police depariment 4774 4,445 - - 4774 4,445
Fire depariment 2,968 2,818 - - 2,968 2,818

o Other public safety o243 232 - - 243 232
. Transportation 2,081 1,703 - - 2,091 1,703
Economic assistance and opporiunity 47 45 - - 47 45
Cuiture and recreation 967 1,241 - - 987 1,241
Water treatment 2,385 2,351 - - 2,365 2,351
Wastewater treatment 2,442 3,249 - - 2,442 3,249
Home and community service 1,887 1,997 - - 1,887 1,987
Interest on long-term debt ‘ 293 348 - - 293 348
Total expenses 20,698 21,047 - - 20,698 21,047

E
Roid
1

$ 1,029 $(1,109)

Increase in net assets $ 1,020  $(1,109) §



Table 3 presents the cost of the City’s five largest governmental programs: police
department, fire department, transportation, water treatment and wastewater treatment as
well as the net cost (fotal cost less revenues generated by the activities). The net cost
shows the final cost paid by the City’s taxpayers and other general revenue sources of
each of these functions.

Table 3
Governmental Activities
(In Thousands)
Total Cost of Services Net Cost of Services
2010 2009 2010 2009

Police department $ 4,774 $ 4,445 $4,329 $4,031
Fire department 2,968 2,818 2,568 2,816
Transportation 2,091 1,703 1,168 1,446
Water treatment 2,365 2,351 (197) 262
Wastewater treatment 2,442 3,249 (623) 641
Totals $14.640 - $14,566 $7.645 $9,196

THE CITY’S TUNDS
General Governmental Functions

As the City completed the year, its governmental funds (as presented on page 13)
reported a combined fund balance of $1.163 million which reflects a decrease of $1.066
million from last year’s total of $2.229 million. During 2010, the City's capital
expenditures exceed its related revenues by approximately $1.47 million.



GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The significant variances between the originally adopted budgets for 2010 and 2009 and
the final budget are detailed as follows:

2010 2009
Original budget $ 13928419  § 14,317,477
Additional appropriations 160,559 140,833
Encumbrance carryover 430,397 502,430
Final Budget $ 14,619,375  § 14,960,740

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

At December 31, 2010, the City had $23.083 million (net of accumulated depreciation) in
a broad range of capital assets including land, buildings, water mains, sewer lines, roads,

sidewalks, machinery and equipment. This represenis a net increase of approximately
$1.706 million for the year.

Table 4
Capital Assets at Year-End (Net of Depreciation)
{In Thousands)

Governmental Business - Type Total Primary
Activities Aciivities Goverinment
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Land and improvements $ 151 & 81 % - 3 - $ 151§ 1581
Construction in progress 14,061 12,033 - - 14,061 12,033
Infrastructure 34,704 34,704 - - 34,704 34,704
Buildings and improvements 12,415 12,398 - - 12,415 12,398
Machinery and equipment 16,140 15,290 - - 16,140 15,280
Accumulated depreciation {54,388) (53,199) - - (54,388) (53,199)
Total $ 23083 $ 21377 § - 5 - $ 23083 $ 21377




Debt

G

At year end, the City had $10.810 million in bonds and notes outstanding as compared to
$7.785 million outstanding at December 31, 2009. See Note 8 on pages 37 through 42

for additional details).
Table 5
Qutstanding Debt at Year-end
(in Thousands)
Governmental Business - Type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
General obligation bonds $ 5710 $6135 % - $ - $ 5710 & 6,135
Bond anticipation notes $ 5100 % 1850 % - 3 - $ 5100 ¢ 1850

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES

The City’s elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the
fiscal-year 2011 budget, tax rates, and fees that will be charged for activities. One of
these factors is the economy. Full valuation of property in the City decreased from
$605,138 million in 2009 ic $604,566 million in 2010. The taxable valuation of real
property within the City increased from $278,697 million in 2009 to $278,861 million in
2010. This increase is attributed to the expiration of negotiated PILOT agreements.

The City, along with many other municipalities, is faced with many mandatory increases
beyond the City’s control. There is a mandatory increase in the pension fund, medical
and liability insurance and worker’s compensation ranging in double digits. The City is
also faced with the challenge of declining revenues in the General, Water Funds and
Wastewater Treatment Funds.

These current indicators are consistent with those we used when adopting the General

Fund budget for 2011. In developing the 2011 General Fund budget, the City
""""" appropriated $100,000 of the tax stabilization reserve.
The City’s general fund balance is not expected to decrease by the close of 2011.
However, due to economic conditions and anticipated revenues not realized, the City may
realize a decrease in the general fund balance at year end. Nonetheless, the City’s
unreserved fund balance remains positive, we maintain healthy bond ratings (AAA from
Standard & Poor’s), and the City does not anticipate cash flow problems in 2011 and
2012.

Waste Water rates were increased effective with the first quarterly billing of 2011, to
offset the deficit of 2010 and to meet the additional expenses facing the City in 2011.



The City expects another challenging budget year for 2011, as New York State mandates
continue to increase, investment income remains at record lows, and health and other
benefit costs continue fo increase,

CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors
and creditors with a general overview of the city’s finances and to show the city’s
accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions or need additional
information, contact Mark A. Woods, City Treasurer, City Hall, 342 Central Avenue,

Dunkirk, New York 14048; Phone (716) 366-9863. '

-10 -
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CITY OF DURKIRK, NEW YORK
BALANCE SHEET ’
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2010

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net

Taxes

Accounts receivable
Due from other governments
Bue from other funds
Prepaid expenses

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AMD FUND BALARNCES

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable
Accrued fiabilities
Due to other governments
Due to other funds
Bend anticipation notes payable
Deferred revenue

TOTAL LIABILITIES

FUND BALANCES:
Reserved for:
Capital equipment
Tax stabilization
Employee benefits
Strest improvements
Encumbrances
Unreserved (deficit), reported in:
General fund
Bpecial revenus fund
Capital projects fund

TOTAL FUND BALANCES

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Wastewater Spedcial Capital
General Water Treatment Grant Projects
Fund Fund Fund Eund Eund

1,468,816 § 234143 $ 61,628 3% 1460 § 3,066,992

378,114 - . . -
490,103 521,390 509,575 - -
850,751 - - 18,260 71,005

5,903,831 393,709 747,922 97,461 1,637,537
203,389 21,024 26,280 - -

Totat
Governimental
Eunds

$ 4,853,039

378,114
1,521,068
840,108
8,780,480
340,693

$ 18,513,480

5085004 § 1,470,266 §$ 1,365406 § 117,981 § 4,775,624

123451 % 26068 § 80,379 § 21403 § 36139 $ 287,130
160,892 39,379 22,478 - 1,882 224,631
958,631 - - - - 958,631
2,132,509 1,636,742 2,811,324 29,543 1,959,814 8,769,832
- - - - 5,100,000 5,100,000
10,295 - - - - 10,295
3,385.478 1,902,179 _ 2,914,181 50,946 7,097,835 15,350,619
368,854 - - - - 368,854
581,317 - - - i 581317
513,188 - - - - 513,188
425923 . - - - 425,923
352,245 12,397 95,466 - - 460,108
3,457,909 - - - - 3,457,999
- (744,310} (1,644,242) £6,235 - (2,322,317)

- - - . {2,322,21%) {2,322.211)
5,600,526 (731,913) _(1,548,776) 65,235 _ (2.322211) 1,162,861

9,085004 § 4,170,266 § 1365408 $ 117,481 $ 4775624

§ 16,513,480

See notes to financial statements,

-13-



GOPCEC YL

G620l

(GEL'y20'0L)

¥8£'€80'ce

198°29L°L

$

$

09e'vLL'E
A ATANA
#59'090'r1
661161

eve'ler'e

¢

- ¢_\ -
‘SIUBLUSIEIS |ZI0URUY 0] SBl0U 885

SONIALOR [BIUSLULIBA0B 10 S1ossE 1N

‘SIUSLISIEIS puny iEuSWLISA0S U Ul Delislop SJoisiol] Sle puR saungpuadxs
pousd-iuanng Joy Aed 0} gjgeiieae 10u ese puny weld jeiseds pue puny jeseush BUl JO SO|UBAISOR) SWIOS

'90€'601$ 0} Pejunowe sajigey
une)-Buo) uo sigeAed isalalul PANIOOE PUR 572 L6'6S 01 Pajunowe saliqe| wis-Buo 's)osse jau jo uowelels
o Ul pauods: aie - uugl-Buo; pue JUSLIND UIOG - SONGEl IV "enp usym poaziuboses S JBUiel g ‘spung
[eluswuIsA0b SUl Ul paniooe 10U sI Jgop wiel-Buo] uo iseielul seijige) puny se papodasl jou aie AjBuipiodoe
pue pouad Jauno oyl ut ojgedzd pue anp Jou ase spuns [RluswuIeAcb s A0 oyl o} sjgeoydde saniqer wis)-Huon

uoneoaidap pajeNuNDgE /$7' 868 714 0 Jou Juaudinbz
uoneioasdop peleinWinooe LGL L0 6 10 18U ‘sjuswaacidw pue sBuipiing
uoneioasdaD PIBINWINDOE 88/ 'Q70'Z¢S 10 18U ‘auntonsayu
ssalfoid uy uoponnsuoD
pue
-JO 1SISUOD SI9SSE 2801 | "SPUny {BJUsSWIUI2ACD
oU} Ul peuodal 10U ale 2iolRleY] PUB SIDIN0SS) IRISUEBLYL JOU 218 SolIADE [ejuswiwianob Ui pesn sjesse jejiden

:0SNBSq JUSISMIP Sl SIOSSE U JO JUSLLSIBIS U] Ul SSIIAROE [Rluswiuianob Jo] payoda) sjunoury

spuny [elusiilienot jejo; - seoueleq pund

GLOZ ‘L€ ¥ILWHD3A
SCNNA TYANIRNEIAOD
81388V 13N JO LNIFNILVLS ZHL OL
JIZHS JONYIVE JHL J0 NOILYITIONODZ
HWAOA AMIN HMUDINNG 20 ALID




CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR EMDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Wastewater Spacial Capltal TOTAL
General Water Treatment Grant Projecis Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds
REVENUES:
Real properly taxes & 4,560,453 % - $ - § - 5 - $ 4,560,453
Sales tax 2,223,014 - - - - 2,223,014
: Properiy tax items 3272448 - B - - - 3,272,448
” Non-property tax items 353,768 - - - - 353,768
Departmental income 898,796 2,562,850 3,064,616 - - 6,526,262
Shared services 538,235 - - - - 538,235
Use of money and property 30,712 - - - 45,065 75,777
fs Licenses and permits 35,255 - - - - 35,255
Fines and forfeitures 125,513 - - - - 125,513
Sale of property and compensation for loss 2,553 28,110 - - - 30,663
Miscellaneous 163,553 12,516 9,618 “ 13,903 189,590
State aid : 2,404 464 - - - 41,280 2,445 754
Federal aid 2,769 - - 916,353 408,822 1,327,944
Total revenues 14,611,533 2,603,476 3,074,234 918,353 508,080 24,714,878
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Coungil 39,337 - - - - 39,337
Mayor 102,985 - - “ - 102,085
Financial 308,790 - - - - 308,790
Staff 503,675 - - - - 503,675
Shared services 608,885 - - - - 608,885
Special items 208,388 76,094 81,258 - - 365,740
Police department 3,162,465 - - - - 3,162,465
Fire department 1,883,192 - - - - 1,803,102
Other public safety 187,654 - - - - 187,654
Transportation 1,539,587 - - - - 1,539,587
Economic assistance and opporienity 45,486 - - - - 45,486
Culture and recreation 705,951 - - - - 705,951
Home and community service 768,549 1,670,486 2,326,887 920,606 - 5,686,528
Employee benefits 3,885,795 478,712 461,104 - - 4,825,608
Debt service:
Principal 134,400 80,000 490,600 - - 705,000
Inferest 10,483 2,356 220,349 - 34,193 267,381
Capital outlay - - - - 2,027 554 2,027 554
Total expenditures 14,195,622 2,307,648 3,580,195 920,608 2,061,747 23,085,818
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES :
OVER EXPENDITURES 415,911 255,828 {505,961} {4,253) {1,552,667) {1,351,142)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in 10,575 24,500 170,759 - - 205,834
Transfers out - - - - (200,834} (200,834}
“““““ Proceeds of obligations - - - - 280,000 280,000
Total other financing sources (uses) 10,575 24,500 170,758 - 79,166 285,000
NET CHANGE [N FUND BALANCES 426,486 320,328 (335,202 {4,253) {1,473,501) {1,066,142)
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - beginning 5,273,040 (1,052,241) (1,243,674) 70,488 (848,710) 2,229,003
o FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - ending $ 5699526 § (731,913) § (1,548,776) & 66,238 §_(2,322211) § 1,162,861

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
BALANCE SHEET
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2010

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Total current asseis

NONCURRENT ASSETS:
Total noncurrent assets

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Total current liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:
Total long-term liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

TOTAL NET ASSETS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS

See notes to financial statements.
-17 -

Business-Type
Agtivities
Enterprise Funds

Total




CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Business-Type.
Activities

Enterprise Funds

Total

OPERATING REVENUES:
Total operating revenues $ =

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Total operating expenses -

OPERATING INCOME -

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Total nonoperating revenues {(expenses)

NET INCOME -

TOTAL NET ASSETS - beginning -

TOTAL NET ASSETS - ending $ -

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMEER 31, 2010

Business-Type
Activities

Enterprise Funds

Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net cash provided by operating activities $ -

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

MNet cash provided by noncapital financing activities =

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities -

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Net cash provided by investing activities _ -

NET INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - beginning -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ending $ -

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided
by operating activifies:

Operating income : $ -

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ -

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2010

Agency Trust
Funds Funds Total
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS: :
Cash and cash equivalents $ 25232 § 96,480 % 121,712
TOTAL ASSETS $ 25,232 § 96,480 % 124,712
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 20,704 $ - 3 20,704
Due to general fund 4,528 6,000 10,528
TOTAL LIABILITIES 25,232 6,000 31,232
NET ASSETS
Net assets held in trust - 90,480 90,480
TOTAL NET ASSETS - 90,480 80,480
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 25,232 § 96,480 § 121,712

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

ADDITIONS

Investment earnings

TOTAL ADDITIONS

DEDUCTIONS

Transfer to General Fund for
Culture and recreation expenditures

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
NET ASSETS HELD IN TRUST
BEGINNING OF YEAR

END OF YEAR

See notes to financial statements.
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Trust
Funds

10

10

5,000

5,000

(4,990)

95,470

$

90,480




CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMBER 31, 2010

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investmenis
Accounis receivable
Due from cther governments
Prepaid expenses
Other assels

Total current assets
NONCURRENT ASSETS:

Capital assets:
Land and improvements

Buildings and improvements

Machinery and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

Total noncurrent assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable
Due to other governments
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:

Nongcurrent portion of long-term obligations

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

invested in capital assets, net of related debt

Restricted
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET ASSETS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

) City of Dunkirk
Dunkirk Dunkirk Industrial
Free . Housing Development
Library Authority Agency Total

264501 8 712,834 % $ 1644 % 278,979

- 658,822 - 658,822

- 16,202 - 16,202

- 32,309 - 32,309

- 17,321 - 17.321
16,289 - - 16,289
280,780 1,437,488 1,644 1,719,822

- 1,257,808 - 1,257,808
798,330 13,005,264 - 13,803,594
162,776 797,977 - 960,753
(193.075) {8,868,044) - (9,061,119}
768,031 8,193,005 - 6,961,036
1,048,821 § 7,630,493 § $ 1,644 § 8,680,958
- % 27,800 § $ - $ 27,800

- 43,447 - 43,447

- 67 609 148 67,757

- 138,856 148 139,004

- 208,337 100 208,437

- 347,193 248 347.441
768,031 6,193,005 - 6,061,036
188,358 - “ 188,358
92,432 1,090,285 1,396 1,184,123
1,048 821 7,283,300 1,396 8,333,517
1,048,821 $ 7,830,493 $ $ 1,644 $ 8,680,958

See notes o financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
COMPONENT UNITS - PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES
YEAR ENDED DEGEMBER 31, 2010

Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Dunkirk City of Dunlkirk
Urban Dunkirk industrial
Renewal Housing Development
Agency Authority Agency Total
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from charges and fees $ “ $ 628,682 § 843 § 629,625
Receipts from operating grants - 684,203 - 684,203
Payments te suppliers - {612,288) (7,310) (619,596}
Payments to other governments - (33,870) - (33,870}
Payments to employees - (508,222) - {506,222}
Payments to other funds - (3,230) - {3,230)
Other receipts - 11,375 - 11,375
Met cash provided (used) by operating activities . 168,652 (6,367} 162,285
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES: - - - -
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital grants received - 611,983 - 611,983
Acquisition and modemization of capital assets - (643,145) - (643,145)
Proceeds from disposition of assets - 2,550 - 2,650
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities - (28,612} - {28,812}
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -
Funds provided by investment redemptions - 140,822 - 140,822
Interest income received - 8,529 - 8,528
Met cash provided by investing activities - 149,351 - 148,351
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - 289,391 {8,367) 283,024
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - beginning - 423,443 8,011 431,454
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ending $ - $ 712,834 § 1,644 § 714,478
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash providad (used)
by operating activities:
Cperating income $ - $ (378,008} % {6,367) § (384,375}
Adjustment to reconcile operating income 1o net cash provided (used}
by operating activities:
Depreciation - 548,580 B 548,580

s Change in assets and liabilities: )

: Accolmits receivable - 338 - 338
Due from other governmenis - (19,276) - (19,276)
Due from other funds - {3,230) - (3,230)
Prepaid expenses - 37t - a7t
Cther assets - 200 - 200
Agcounts payable - {10,703} - {10,703)
Pue to other funds - 3,230 - 3,230
Other current liabilities - 27,152 - 27,152

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED} BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES § - $ 468,652 § (8,367} § 162,285

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRIK, NEW YORK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the City of Dunkirk, New York (the City} have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles. The more significant of the City's accounting policies are described below.

A. Reporting Entity

Subject to the New York State Constitution, the City operates pursuant to its Charter and the City Code, as well as
various local laws. Additionally, certain New York State laws govern the City to the extent that such laws are
applicable to cities operating under a charter form of government. The City of Dunkirk Common Council is the
legislative body responsible for overall operations, the Mayor serves as chief executive officer, and the City
Treasurer serves as chief fiscal officer.

The City provides the following basic services: garbage and rubbish collection, police and fire protection, recreation
programming for youths and adults, maintenance of parks, beaches and boat launches, maintenance of streets,
water and sewer lines, regional water filiration plant and sewage treaiment facilities.

The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary government which is the City of Dunkirk, New York, (b)
organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable, and (c) other organizations for which the
nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the
reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete as set forih in GASB Statement 14.

The decision to include a potential component unit in the City's reporting entity is based on several criteria set forth
in GASB 14 including legal standing, fiscal dependency, and financial accountability. Based on the application of
these criteria, the following Is a brief review of certain entities considered in determining the City's reporting entity.

1. INCLUDED IN THE REPORTING ENTITY

The Dunkirk Housing Authority (the Authority) was created in 1963 by the New York State Legislature. The
governing board of the Authority is appointed by the Mayor except for two tenant representatives. The local
government provides no subsidy to the Authority nor is it responsible for debt or operating deficits of the
Authority. The Authority is essentially supported by operating subsidies from the U. 8. Depariment of Housing
and Urban Development. The local government does not appoint management of the Authority nor does it
approve the Authority's budget or hiring of staff. The local government has no oversight responsibility for funds of
the Authority. However, per New York State directive, the Dunkirk Housing Authority is considered a component
unit of the City and is discretely presented, The information presented in these financial statements for the
Dunkirk Housing Authorily is as of June 30, 2010.

The Dunkirk Free Library {the Library) was established in 1804. The Library is administered by a Board of
Directars; one director is appointed by the Common Councll and the remaining directors are elected by members
of the Library Board. The Library Board designates management and exercises complete responsibility over
fiscal matters. The local government has no oversight responsibility over the funds of the Library, however, the
City does provide a substantial portion of the operating costs for the Library. The Library is considered a
component unit of the City and is discretely presented.

The Dunkirk Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency) was established for the purpose of renovating and
rehabilitating an economically depressed area with the City. The Agency is presently inactive and yet it holds title
to certain parcels of land that are unappraised. The Dunkirk Urban Renewal Agency is a component unit of the
City and is discretely presented.

-25 .



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
NOTES TQ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
{Continued)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The City of Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency {the Agency) was established by the enactment of Section
890-a of the General Municipal Law, effective June 17, 1971, as a special act of the New York State Legislature.
The Agency is authorized under the Act to issue bonds to promote the economic and industrial development of
the State. The bonds are secured by pledges of any renis, revenues and receipis as well as a lien on and a
security interest in the projecis being promoted. Neither the Agency nor the City shall be held liable for
repayment of these bonds out of any funds other than those pledged by the Agency. Members of the Board of
Directors of the Agency are appointed by and designated to serve at the pleasure of the City's Common Council.
The City of Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency is considered a component unit of the City and is discretely
presented.

Complete financial statements of these individual component uniis can be obtained from their respective
administrative offices:

Dunkirk Housing Authority
15 North Main Sfreet
Dunkirk, New York 14048

: DPunkirk Free Library
e 536 Central Avenus
Dunkirk, New York 14048

Dunkirk Urban Renewal Agency
City Hall
Dunkirk, New York 14048

City of Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency
City Hall
Dunkirk, New York 14048

2. EXCLUDED FROM THE REPORTING ENTITY

Although the following organizations, functions or activities are related to the City, they are not included in the
City's reporting entity based on the professional judgment of responsible local officials because of the reasons
noted:

The Dunkirk City School District was created by state legislation which designated the school board as the
governing authority. School board members. are elected by the qualified voters of the district. The school board
designates management and exercises complete responsibility for all fiscal matters. The City Common Council
exercises no oversight over school operations.

The Dunkirk Local Development Corporation (the Corporation) is a special purpose development corporation
organized by the City under the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York. The corporation was
created to purchase, lease, sublease, own, hold, sell, assign or pledge various parcels of real estate throughout
the City. The Corporation, on behalf of the City, manages a low-interest revolving loan fund initially funded by
the repayments of Urban Development Action Grant Loans. The Corporation is governed by a Board of Directors
comprised of business leaders and community representatives appointed by the City Common Council.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (statement of net assets and staternent of activities) report information
on all the nonfiduciary activities of the City. Interfund activity has been removed from these statemenis.
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are differentiated
from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Currently the City
does not operate any business-like activities. The primary government is reported separately from certain legally
separate component units for which the primary government is financially accountable,

The staternent of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function. Indirect
expenses have been included as a part of the program expenses reported for the various functional activities.
Program revenues include 1) charges to those who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function and 2) operating grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Iltems not properly included among program revenues
are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and fiduciary funds even though the fiduciary
funds are excluded from the government-wide financial staternents.

. Measurement Focug, Bagis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The govemnment-wide and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accouniing. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Reimbursements are reported as reductions to expenses. Fiduciary fund financial statements also report using this
same focus and basis of accounting although internal activity is not eliminated in these staternents. Property tax
revenues are recognized in the year for which they are levied, while grants are recognized when grantor eligibility
requirements are met.

Governmental fund staterents are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when the underlying exchange transaction has
occurred and the resources are available. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if the City
has collected the revenues in the current period or expects to collect them soon enough after the end of the period
to use them to pay liabiliies of the current period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred,
except for general obligation bond principal and interest and compensated absences which are reported in the year
due.

Property taxes, licenses and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to
accrual-and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Revenues accrued at December 31,
2010 are listed in Note 8. There were no significant revenues considered as not subject to accrual.

Revenues from Federal, State or other grants designated for payment of specific City expenditures, are recognized

when the related expenditures are incurred. At fiscal year-end, excess receipts over expenditures are recorded as
deferred revenue. Any excess expenditures over receipts are recorded as accounts receivable.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation, continued

The City reports the following governmental funds, which are all considered major:

General Fund - This fund is the principal operating fund of the City and is used to account for all financial
resources except those required to be accounted fot in other funds.

Water Fund - This fund is used to account for the revenues (primarily user charges) and expenditures related to
the operation and maintenance of the water filtration plant and water fines for residential and commercial users.

Wastewater Treatment Fund - This fund is used fo account for the revenues (user charges and general fund
transfers) and expenditures of the wastewater treatment plant for residential and commercial users.

Special Grant Fund - This fund is used to account for Community Development Block Grants and Small Cities
Entitlement Grants from the U.8. Department of Housing and Urban Development.

Capital Projects Fund - The capital projects fund is used to account for and report financial resources o be used
for the acquisition, construction or renovation of major capital facilities or equipment.

The City currently does not operate any proprietary funds.

Additionally, the City reporis the following fund type:
Fiduciary Funds
Agency Fund - The Agency fund is custodial in nature and does not présent results of operation nor have
measurement focus. The Agency Fund is accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. This

fund is used fo account for assets that the government holds for others in an agency capacity.

Trust Fund - The Trust Fund represents an expendable trust received and held by the City which can only be
utilized for the benefit of Recreation/Youth programs of the City.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the governmeni-wide financial
statements.

Amounts reported as program revenues include {1} charges to customers or applicants for goods, services or
privileges performed, (2) operating grants and confributions, and (3} capital granis and contributions, including
special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than program
revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.
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NCTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

0. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

As required by Article V of the City Charter and Administrative Code, the City's annual procedures in establishing
the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements are as follows:

a.) On or before the first day of October each year, the Mayor shall submit to the Common Council a proposad
budget and capital budget {ogether with a message concerning same for the ensuing year.

b.) The budget message shall describe the important feafures; oufline the proposed capital programs; indicate
major changes from the current fiscal year in financial policies, expenditures, and revenues fogether with the
reasons for such changes; summarize the City's debt condition; and include such other material as the Mayor may
deem advisable.

c.) The proposed budget shall provide a complete financial plan of all City functions and activities for the ensuing
year. The budget shall be in such form as the Mayor may deem advisable and shall include: actual revenues and
expendiiures of the preceding fiscal year; actual and estimated revenues and expenditures of the current fiscal
year; all estimated revenues and proposed expenditures for the ensuing fiscal year (including detailed estimates of
revenue from all sources and the amount proposed to be raised by the tax levy upon real estate). The proposed
expenditures shall be itemized as follows: each office, depariment, board and commission shall be listed separately
showing the proposed amount for salaries and wages, supplies and other expenditures and the total thereof,
reserve for uncollected taxes; debt service; judgments and settlements outstanding not covered by insurance;
capital program stating the amount {o be financed, if any, and the method thereof; special funds and purposes not
otherwise contained in the budget; anticipated deficit, if any, of the current year and contingency fund.

d.) immediately after the presentation of the proposed budget to the Common Council, the mayor shall file same in
the City Clerk's Office and cause sufficient copies of same and the budget message to be made for distribution fo
the public. The proposed budget shall be a public record and shall be open o inspection by the public during
regular business hours in the City Clerk's Office. Not less than five days prior {o the date of the public hearing, the
City Clerk shall cause to be published in the official newspaper of the City 2 notice of public hearing which shall
specify the date, time and place of the public hearing; the total amount of the proposed budget; the amount thereof
to be raised by taxes; the anficipated tax rate per thousand of assessed valuation and that copies of the proposed
budget are available to the public in the City Clerk's Office.

&) The Common Council shall meet and conduct a public hearing at which the Mayor shall be present. Such
public hearing shall be held no later than November 15th.

f) After conclusion of the public hearing, the Common Council shall consider the adoption of the proposed budget

and may adjourn from time to time until is has fully considered and reviewed the proposed budget. The Common

Council may add new programs or amounis, and may increase, decrease or delete programs and amounts.

Expenditures required by law, for debt service, estimated deficits or estimated revenues may not be changed

except to correct omissions or mathematical errors. The Common Council may, however, decrease the amount of

tax levy for the ensuing fiscal year as proposed by the Mayor in proportion to such decreases in total expenditures
as it may have determined. If the Common Council shall increase the total expenditures, such increase shall be
included in the amount to be raised by taxes.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting, continued

g.) Upon completion of the consideration and review of the proposed budget, the Common Council, shall on or
before the 15th day of December of each year, adopt a resolution approving the budget in the final form approved
by it and shall forthwith adopt an appropriation resolution and a resclution making a levy upon all the real properly
situated in the City liable to taxation in the ensuing year. The appropriation resclution shall be passed on the
budget as adopted but need not be itemized further than by each office, board, department, commission, fund and
program. Upon adoption of the budget, the appropriation and tax levy resolutions, the Gity Clerk shall file & certified
copy of each with the City Treasurer and Fiscal Affairs Officer. The adoption of the budget shall constitute an
appropriation of the amounts, a levy of the amount to be raised by taxation therein stated, and a warrant to the City
Treasurer to spread and extend such levy upon current assessment tax rolls and to collect the same.

h.)} If a budget has not been adopted, as provided by the Charter, on or before the 15th day of December, the
tentative City budget, with amendmenits, if any, shall become the budget for the ensuing year.

i.) The amount of all taxes levied upon any parce! of real property shall, except as otherwise expressly provided by
law, be and become a lien thereon as of the first day of January of the fiscal year for which levied and shall remain
a lien until paid.

j.} Formal annual budgetary accounts are adopted and employed for control of all governmental funds except the
special grant fund and the capital projects fund. These budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States except that encumbrances are treated as budgetary expenditures
in the year of occurrence of the commitment {o purchase. All unencumbered appropriations lapse at the end of the
fiscal year. Budgetary comparisons presented in this report are on the budgetary basis and represent the budget
as modified. This resulis in the following reconciliations of fund balances computed on a GAAP basis and a
budgetary basis:

Wastewater
General Water Treatment
Fund Fund Fund
GAAP Basis:

Fund Balances (Deficif) - 12/31/10 $5,699,526 ($731,913) , {$1,648,776)
Deduct outstanding encumbrances 352245 12,397 95,466
Budgetary Basis:

Fund Balances {Deficif) - 12/31/10 $5,347,281 ($744,310) ($1,644,242)

k) Total expenditures for each activity may not legally exceed the total appropriations for that activity.
Encumbrances outstanding at year end are accounted for by a reservation of fund balance.

1) Formal annual capital budgets and five year projections of capital needs are adopted by the Common Council for
control of capital expenditures.

m.} Budgetary controls for the Special Grant Fund are established in accordance with the applicable grant
agreement which covers a period other than the City's fiscal year.
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HNOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting,

continued

n) At January 1, the amount of encumbrances carried forward from the prior year are reestablished. These
increases amounted to $430,397; $18,696 and $26,874 in the General, Water and Wastewater Treatment Funds,

“respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2010, supplemental appropriations (including the prior year

encumbrances) of $590,956; $59,489 and $26,874 were approved in the General, Water and Wastewater
Treatment Funds, respectively.

. Encumbrances

Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods and services. Encumbrance
accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the expenditure of monies are
recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension of budgetary
control in the governmental funds. Encumbrances outstanding at year end are reported as reservations of fund
balances since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

investments are stated at fair value. Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as shori-term investments
with a maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the City.

G. Capital Assets

The City's property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure with useful lives of more than one year are stated at
historical cost and comprehensively reported in the government-wide financial staterents. The City maintains
infrastructure asset records consistent with all other capital assets. Donated assets are stated at fair value on the
date donated. The City generally capitalizes assets with costs of $1,000 or more as purchase and construction
outlays occur. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the asset value or materially extend
useful lives are not capitalized. Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method. When capital
assets are disposed of the cost and applicable accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective
accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is recorded in operations. Major outlays for capital assets and
improvements are capitalized as projects are incurred.

Property, plant, and equipment of the City is depreciated using the straight line method over the following estimated
useful lives:

Assets Years
Buildings 40
Building improvements 20
Land improvements 20
Infrastructure:
Sanitary sewers 50
Water mains 50
Storm drains 50
Traffic control systems 20
Roads 20
Sidewalks 20
Machinery and eguipment:
Office equipment and furniture 1G-15
Heavy equipment 10
Vehicles 10
Other 8
Computers 5
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

H. Property Tax Revenue Recognition

The City-wide property tax is levied by the Common Council effective January 1 of the year the taxes are
recognizable as revenue. Taxes become a lien on the related property on January 1st of the year for which they are
levied. In the government-wide staternenis, property tax receivables and related revenue include all amounts due
the City regardless of when cash is received. The City acls a the collection agent for the County of Chautauqua for
County taxes levied on properiies within the City. The City also collects school taxes for the local school district for
remission to them. During 1994, the City entered an agreement with the County of Chautaugua whereby unpaid City
and school taxes are to be turned over for enforcement. The agreement with the County of Chautauqua was
renewed on July 30, 2010 for the 2010 and 2011 tax years, The County reimburses the City for unpaid taxes and
relevies unpaid taxes as County taxes in the subsequent year.

pensated Absences

City employees are granted vacation, personal and sick leave and compensatory time in varying amounts. in the
event of termination or upon retirement, an employee is entitled to payment for accumulated vacation, sick leave
and unused compensatory absences at various rates subject fo certain conditions, maximum limitations and union
affiliations.

Compensated absences are reported as accrued in the government-wide financial statements. Governmental
funds report only matured compensated absences payable to currently terminating employees and are included in
wages and benefits.

Payment of compensated absences recorded in the general government long-term debt in the government-wide
financlal statements is dependent upon many factors; therefore, fiming of future payment is not readily
determinable. However management believes that sufficient resources will be made available for the future
payment of compensated absences when such payments become due.

4. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenditures, assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and during the reported period. Actual results could differ from those estimates and those
differences could be significant.

~32-



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
{Continuad)

NOTE 1 ~ SUMMARY OF SIGHIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

K. Accounting and Reporting Chanaes

During June 2007, GASB issued Statement No. 51 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for intangible Assets. This
statement requires that all intangible assets not specifically excluded by excluded by its scope provisions be
classified as capital assets. The City implemented Statement No. 51, effective for the fiscal year ending December
31, 2010,

During June 2008, GASB issued Statement No. 53 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments.
This statement addresses the recognition, measurement and disclosure of information regarding derivative
instruments entered into by state and local governments. Derivative instruments are often complex financial
arrangements used by governments to manage specific risks or to make investments. The City implemented
Statement No, 53, effective for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010,

In December 2009, GASE also issued Statement No. 58 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Chapter 9
Bankrupicies. The objective of this statement is fo provide accounting and financial reporting guidance  for
governments that have petitioned for protection from creditors by filing for bankruptcy under Chapter 9 of the United
States Bankruptcy code. It requires governments to remeasure liabilities that are adjusted in bankruptcy when the
bankruptcy court confirms & new payment plan. The City implemented Statement No. 58, effective for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2010.

Implementation of these three standards had no impact on the financial statements of the City of Dunkirk.

L. Future Impacts of Accounting Pronouncemants

The City has not completed the process of evaluating the impact that will result from adopting Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 84 - Fund Bafance Reporting and Govemmental Fund Type

Definitions, effective for the year ending December 31, 2011; GASB Statement 57 - OPEB Measurements by Agent

Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, effective for the year ending December 31, 2012; GASB Statement
No. 59 - Financiaf Instruments Omnibus, effective for the year ending December 31, 2011, GASB Statement No. 60-
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements, effective for the year ending December
31, 2012: GASB Statement No. 61 - The Financial Reporting Entity - an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14

and No. 34, effective for the year ending December 31, 2013; and, GASB Statement No. 62 - Codification of
Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Confained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA

Pronouncements, effective for the year ending December 31, 2012,

The City is therefore unable to disclose the impact that adopting these GASB Statements will have on its financial
position and results of operation when such statements are adopted.
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NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, ACCOUNTABILITY

At December 31, 2010, the Capital Project Fund had a deficit fund balance in the amount of $2,322,211. The deficit
was caused by (a) debt relating to the activity is considered to be a fund liability rather than a source of financing to be
reported a revenue and (b) expenditures fo date exceeded revenues to date. Revenue related to the debt, under the
madified accrual basis, is not recognized as revenue until the debt is repaid from appropriations or the debt is
refinanced on a long-term basis. The deficit fund batance will eventually be eliminated as the bond anticipation notes
are retired. Management believes that suifficient revenues will be generated by the end of the project to cover the
additional project expenditures incurred.

At December 31, 2010, the Water Fund had a deficit fund balance in the amount of $731,913. The deficit was caused
by expenditures to date exceeding revenues to date. Expenditures were over-expended due to increases in utilities,
chemicals, repairs to equipment, sewer fees, contracted services, and equipment purchases that were not anticipated.

At December 31, 2010, the Wastewater Fund had a deficit fund balance in the amount of $1,548,776. The deficit was
caused by expenditures to date exceeding revenues to date. Expenditures were over-expended due fo increases in
utilities and chemicals that were not anticipated.

NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The City's investment policies are governed by state statutes and various resolutions of the Common Council. City
moneys must be deposited in FDIC-insured commercial banks or trust companies located within the state. The
Treasurer is authorized to use demand accounts and certificates of deposit. Permissible investments include
obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, repurchase agreements, and obligations of New York State or its
localities. Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposit at 102% of all deposits not covered by
federal deposit insurance. Obligations that may be pledged as collateral are obligations of the United States and its
agencies and obligations of New York State and its municipalities and school districts.

The defai! of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2010 is as follows: Carrying
Amount

Petty cash $ 1,400
Deposits {checking account) 3,502,377
Cash and cash equivalenis (savings and CBDs) 1,470,974
Total § 4974751
Cash and cash equivalenis maintained by the City at December 31, 2010 consist of: Amourt
Government activities : $ 4,853,030
Fiduciary activities _ 121,712
Total $ 4974751
Deposits - All deposits are carried at cost plus accrued interest, Bank

. Balance
Insured (FDIC) $ 1,896,188
Uninsured -
Collateral held by bank's agent in City's name 4,500,235
Total deposits $ 6396423

At December 31, 2010, the City did not have any investments other than cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS, continued

Investments - All investments are carried at the lower of cost or market and are categorized in the following manner.

Category 1 - Insured or registered, or securities held by the City or its agent in the City's name.

Category 2 - Uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the counterparty's trust department, or agent in the
City's name.

Category 3 - Uninsured and unregistered, with no securitization of the invesiments.

NOTE 4 - PROPERTY TAX
The City-wide property tax is levied each January 1, which is also the lien date. Property taxes are collected during the
period Aprit 1 through May & of each year. The County assumes enforcement responsibility for all taxes levied by the
City.

Tax rates are calculated using assessments prepared by City Assessors as adjusted by the New York State Board of
Equalization and Assessment for the purpose of comparability. The total taxable assessed value of real property
included in the tax levy of 2010 is approximately $279 million. The effective tax rate on this value is approximately
$16.38 per thousand, The statutory maximum tax rate is 2.0% of the 5-year average of the equalized assessment.
The 2010 levy represents approximately 54.46% of the maximum statutory levy.

The City constitutional tax limit for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 is computed as follows:

Five year Average Full Valuation

of Taxable Real Estate (2006 - 2010) $ 345,622,023

Tax limit @ 2.0% $ 6,912,458
Total Tax Levy 4,565,070
Less: Exclusions 1,416,962
Total Levy Subject to Tax Limit 3,148,108
Tax Margin $§ 3,764,350

NOTE & - INTERFUND TRANSFERE

The City made the following operating transfers during 2010:

Transfer In
Wastewater
General Waier Treatment
Transfer Out Fund Fund Fund Total
Capital Projects Fund $ 5,575 $ 24,500 $ 170,759 $ 200,834
Permanent Trust Fund 5,000 - - 5,000
$ 10,575 3 24,500 $ 170,759 $ 205,834
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MOTE 6 - RECEIVABLES

Revenues accrued by the Cily consist of the following:

A. Other Receivables - represents amounts due from various sources,

Funds:
General Fund $ 490,103
Water Fund 521,390
Wastewater Fund 509,575
Total $ 1,521,068

B. Due from Other Governments - State and federal receivables primarily represent claims for reimbursement of
expenditures incurred related to the community development small cities program and various state aided
programs. They are net of related advances from New York State. State and federal receivables also include
reimbursable amounts for construction expenditures made through the Capital Project Fund. Other government
receivables are amounts primarily due from other local municipalities and other miscellaneous items. Amounts
accrued at December 31, 2010 are comprised of:

State and Federal Receivables

General Fund $ 550,751
Special Grant Fund 18,260
Capiltal Projects Fund 71,095

Total due from other governments 3 640,108

NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2010 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 151,165 $ - $ - $ 151,165
Construction in progress 12,033,100 2,027,554 - 14 060,654
Total capital assets not 12,184,255 2,027 554 - 14,211,809
heing depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastruciures 34,704,071 - - 34,704,071
Buildings and improvements 12,397,918 17,593 - 12,415,511
Machinery and equipment 15,289,875 850,505 - 16,140,380
Total capital assets being depreciated 62,391,864 868,008 - 63,259,962
Less accumulated depreciation for:
infrastructures 31,907,647 121,152 - 32,028,799
Buildings and improvements 9,463,353 237,798 - 9,701,151
Machinery and equipment 11,827,814 830,623 - 12,658,437
Total accumulated depreciation 53,198,814 1,189,673 - 54,388,387
Total capital assets being
depreciated, net 9,193,050 {321 475) - 8,871,675
Governmental activities capital assets, net _§ 21,377,305 _$ 1,706,079 $ - $ 23,083,384
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MOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUELD)
Depreciation expense was charged to the governmental functions as follows:

Shared services $ 16,633

Police departiment 40,450
Fire department 153,350
Transportation 390,048
Culture and recreation 47,850
Water department 214,560
Wastewater depariment 324,803
Other home and community service 1,879

. Total depreciation expense _ $ 1,189,873

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES

A. Pension Plans

a,) Plan Description

The City of Dunkirk participates in the New York and Local Employees' Retirement System (ERS), the New York
State and Local Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) and the Public Employees’ Group Life Insurance
Plan (System). These are cost-sharing multiple-employer retirement systerns. The Systems provides retirement
benefits as well as death and disability benefits. Obligations of employers and employees to contribute and
benefits to employees are governed by the New York State Retirement and Soclal Security Law (NYSRSSL). As
set forth in the NYSRSSL, the Comptrolier of the State of New York (Comptroller) serves as sole trustee and
administrative head of the Systems. The Comptroller shall adopt and may amend rules and regulations for the
o administration and transaction of the business of the Systems and for custody and control of its funds. The
Systemns issue a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information. That report may be obtained by writing to the New York State and Local Retirement Systems, 110
State Street, Albany, NY 12244.

bh.) Funding Policy

The Systems are noncontributory except for employees who joined the New York State and Local Employees’
Retirement System after July 27, 1976 who contribute 3% of their salary for the first ten years of membership.
Under the authority of the NYSRSSL, the Comptroller annually certifies the rates expressed used in computing
the employers' contributions. The required contributions for the current and two preceding years were:

ERS " PFRS

2010 $ 525594 § 837,176
2009 332,420 619,310
2008 384,309 675,524

The City's contributions made to the systerms were equal to 100 percent of the contributions required for each
year. .

- 37 -



CITY OF DUNKIRK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
{(Gontinued)

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

B. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions

a.) Plan Description

The City of Dunkirk administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan ("the Retiree Health Plan").
The plan provides healthcare fo a single disabled retiree until the age of 70 through the City's group health
insurance plan, which covers both active and the above mentioned retired member. Benefit provisions were
established through negotiations between the City and union representing Cify employees and are renegotiated
as each bargaining period expires.

b.} Funding Policy

Contribution requirements of the Retiree Health Plan by the City are established and may be amended through
negotiations between the City and the bargaining units. The contribution is based on pay-as-you-go financing
requirements. For the year ended December 31, 2010, the City contributed $22,772, or 102.39%, of the
actuarially required contributions, to the Retiree Health Plan.

&) Annual QPEB Cost and Net OPEE Obligation

The City's annual other postemployment benefits (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the annual required
contribution (ARC). The City has elected to calculate the ARC and related information using the alternative
measurement method permitted by GASE Statement 45 for employers in plans with fewer than one hundred total
plan members. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover
normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funded excess) over a period not to
exceed thirty years. ’

The following table shows the components of the City's annual OPEB cost over the year, the amount actually
contributed to the plan, and changes in the City's net OPEB obligation to the Retiree Health Plan:

Annual required contribution $ 23,463
Interest on net OPEB obligation (1,223)
Adjustment to annual required contribution -
Annual OPER cost (expense) 22,240
Contribution made (22,772
Decrease in net OPEB obligation (532)
Net OPER obligation - beginning of year 1,963
Net OPEB obligation - end of year $ 1,431

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed fo the plan, and the net OPEB
obligation for 2010 is as follows:

Percentage of Net
Year Annual Annual CPEB OPEB
Ended OPEB Cost _ Cost Contributed Obligation
12/31/2008 ] 11,253 90.39% § 1,081
1213172000 23,654 96.27% 1,983
12/31/2010 22,240 102.39% 1,431
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CITY OF DUNKIRK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
{Continuad)

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

B, Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, continued

d.) Funded Status and Funding Progress

As of July 1, 2010, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the funded status of the Retiree Health Plan was as

follows:
Actuarial accrued liability (AAL} $ 202616
Actuarial value of plan assets -
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) $ 202616
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) - 0.0%
Annual covered payroll (active plan members) 3 -
UAAL as a percentage of annual covered payroll 0.0%

e.) Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events in the future. Examples, include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and the health care cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the
plan and the annual required contribution of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future, The schedule of funding
progress, presented as required supplementary information, following the notes to the financial statements,
presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing
over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits,

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan {the plan understood by
the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the
historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial
methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the Tong-term perspective of the calculations.

in the July 1, 2010 actuarial valuation, the alternative measurement method was used. Based on the historical
and expected retums of the City's short-term investment portfolio, a discount rate of 5.5 percent was used. In
addition, a simplified version of the projection of future benefit payments was used.

C. Short Term Debt

Liabilities for bond anticipation notes (BANs) are generally recorded for in the capital projects fund. The notes or
renewals thereof may not extend more than two years beyond the original date of issue unless a portion is
redeemed within two years and within each twelve month perfod thereafter,

State law requires that BANs issued for capital purposes be converted to long-term obligations within five years
after the original issue date. However BANs issued for assessable improvement projects may be renewed for
periods equivalent to the maximum life of the permanent financing, provided that stipulated annual reductions of
principal are made.

The foliowing is an analysis of outstanding BANs at December 31, 2010:

Maturity Interest
Fund Description Amount Date Rate
Capital projects  Boardwalk % 700,000 12/9/2011 2.50%
Capital projects  Wastewater filtration plant 3,100,000 3/30/2011 1.50%
Capital projects  Water melers 975,000 10/10/2011 1.27%
Capital projects  Water meters 325,000 12/6/2011 2.06%

$ 5,100,000
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CITY OF DUNKIRK
NOTES TC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
{Continued)

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES {CONTINUED)

C. Short Term Debt, confinued
Revenue anticipation notes (RANs) may be issued in anticipation of collection of revenues other than real estate
taxes for meeting expenditures payable from the type of revenue for.which the borrowing was made. RANs must
mature within one year and may be renewed from time to time, but each renewal shall be for a period not exceeding
one year. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the City did not issue, renew or repay any RANs.

Tax Anticipation Notes (TANs) may, up to the maximum authorized by statute, be issued against the anticipated
collection of taxes or assessments levied or to be levied against real property. These notes may be renewed for &
period not to exceed one year and must be retired within five years of the original issue. During the year ended
December 31, 2010, the City did not issue, renew or repay any TANs.

D. Long Term Debt
a.) Constitutional Debt Limit

The City constitutional debt limit at December 31, 2010 is computed as follows:

Five-Year Average Full Valuation

of Taxable Real Estate (2005 - 2009) _$ 339,484,032
Debt Limit @ 7% $ 23,763,882
Net Indebtedness (after statutory exclusions) 850,000
Net Debt Contracting Margin _ $ 22913882
Percentage of Debt Contracting Power Exhausted 3.58%

b.) Serial Bonds

The City borrows money in order to acquire land or equipment or construct buildings and improvements. This
enables the cost of these capital assets to be borne by the present and future taxpayers receiving the benefit of
the capital assets. These long-term liabilities, which are full faith and credit debt of the local government are
recorded in the governmental funds in the government-wide financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 34, 2010
(Continued)

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

D. Long Term Debt, conti

c.} Compensated Absences

As explained in Note 1, compensated absences are recorded in the government-wide financial statements,
Governmental funds report only matured compensated absences payable to currently terminating employees
which are included in wages and benefifs,

.} Summary of Changes in General Long Term Debf

The following is a summary of changes in general long-term liabilities:

Balance s Balance
01/01/2008 Increases Decreases 12/31/2008
Serial bonds $ 6,135,000 % 280,000 $ 705,000 $ 5,710,000
Compensated absences 4,187,131 17,698 - 4,204,827

$ 10,322,131 $ 297,696 $ 705,000 $ 9914827

Additions and deletions to compensated absences are shown net since it is
impractical to determine these amounts separately.

The following is 2 summary of changes in long term liabilities.

Outstanding
Date Maturity Interest Qriginal Balance
Purpose lssued Date Raie Amount 1213172010
Various purposes 8/15/11993 5/15/2011 3.10% § 3,740,000 $ 150,000
Water treatment
plant renovation 7/26/2001 11152011 2.60% 725,364 80,000
Sewage treatment
plant renovation 11/12/1992 2/16/2013 3.24% 5,545,000 975,000
Water treatment
plant renovation 9/1/2008 5/1/2033 4.25% 4,539,000 4,225,000
Water treatment
plant renovation 4142010 5/1/2015 2.69% 280,000 280,000
$ 5,710,000

wdq -



CITY OF DUNKIRK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
{Continued)

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

D. Long Term Debt, continued

The following table summarizes the City's future debt service requirements as of December 31, 2040:

Serial Bonds
YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, Principal Interest

2011 $ 760,000 $ 249,899
2012 540,000 208,015
2013 550,000 189,661
2014 225,000 164,790
2015 225,000 156,163
2016-2020 850,000 670,197
2021-2025 960,000 472,281
2026-2030 880,000 256,678
2031-2033 610,000 43 575

TOTAL $ 5,710,000 $ 2,411,259

In prior years, the City defeased certain general obligation and other bonds by placing the proceeds of new
bonds in an irevocable frust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the
trust account and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the City's financial statements. At
December 31, 2010, $150,000 of outstanding bonds are considered defeased.

NOTE § - NET ASSETS

Restricted Net Asseis

Restrictions of net assets have:been recorded in the government-wide financial statements of the City at December 31,
2010. In the governmental fund statements these restrictions are refiected as reservations of fund balances. At
December 31, 2010, the City has recorded the following restrictions:

Restricted for Capital Equiptnent - represents resources that are committed for future capital equipment
acquisitions.

Restricted for Tax Stabilization - represents resources appropriated by the Common Council to keep future fax
increases at a minimum in any fiscal year.

Restricted for Employee Benefits - represents resources to be used to help minimize the financial burden of
future employee benefit increases.

Restricted for Street Improvements - represents resources that are committed for future street construction.

Restricted for Encumbrances - represents commitments related to unperformed {executory) confracts for goods
or services.

Unrestricted Net Assets

Designations are not legally required restrictions, but are segregated for a specific purpose. At December 31, 2010,
the City had not designated any unrestricted net assets.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
(Continued)

NOTE 10 - CONTINGENCIES

A. Lease Commitments and Leased Assets

The City leased property and equipment under an operating lease. Total rental expenditures on this lease for the
year ended December 31, 2010 were approximately $593. The City does not have any operating leases as of

B. Grant and Aid Programs

The City receives significant financial assistance from numerous federal and state agencies. The receipt of such
funds generally requires compliance with terms and conditions specified in the grant agreements and is subject to
audit by the grantor agencies. Any disallowed expenditures resulting from such audits could become a liability of
the City. The amount of disallowance, if any, cannot be determined at this time, although, based on prior
experience, the City expects such amounts to be immaterial.

. Litigation
The City is party to various legal proceedings which normally occur in governmental operations. The City believes
that its ultimate liability, if any, In connection with these matters, will not have a material effect on the City's financial

condition or results of operations.

The City's policy is not to take possession or ownership of properties with potential or known pollution remediation
issues. The City currently does not have any properties with pollution remediation obligations where the City retains
ownership rights that have either been remediated or have grant funding in place to be remediated. Any petential
future environmental remediation is considered to be de minimus to the City. Therefore, the City has not made any
adjustments related to GASB No. 49 to book any potential environmental remediations on the books.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
GENERAL FUND

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

REVENUES:
Real property taxes
Sales tax
Preperty tax items
Non-properly tax ftems
Deparimental incorns
Shered services
Use of money and property
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Sale of properly and compensation for loss
Miscellanecus
State aid
Federal aid

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Council
fayor
Financial
Staff
Shared services
Special items
Police department
Fire department
Other public safety
Transportation
Economic assistance and spportunity
Culiure and recreation
Home and cormmimity service
Empioyee benefits

Debt service:
Principal
Interest

Total expenditures

EXCESS [DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES {USES):
Transfers in

Total other financing sources [uses)

EXCESS [DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER
SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES

FUND BALANCE, January 1

FUND BALANCE, December 31

Variance
Original Revised Favorable
udget Revisions Budyet Actual Encumbrances  (Unfavorable)
5 4,565,070 § = § 4565070 $ 4,560,453 % - 5 4817}
2,135,924 - 2,135,924 2,223,014 - 87,090
3,019,688 - 3,049,688 3,272,448 - 252,760
370,000 - 370,000 353,768 - (16,232)
908,200 3,088 909,288 598,798 - {10,492)
452,672 55,347 508,019 §38,235 - 30,218
53,333 - 53,333 30,712 - {22,621)
30,100 - 3a¢,100 35,258 - 5,155
155,000 - 155,000 125,513 - {29,487)
12,500 1,747 14,247 2,553 - {11,624)
470,000 21,159 151,159 163,553 - (27,606}
2,057,932 92,751 2,150,683 2,404,464 - 253,781
- - - 2,769 - 2,769
13,928,419 174,092 14,102,511 14,611,633 - 509,022
398,050 287 39,337 39,337 - -
101,853 2,200 103,853 102,985 58 810
419,039 (14,432} 404,607 398,780 6,593 (776}
497321 6,827 504,148 503,675 473 “
561,025 50,790 681,815 608,885 1.085 1,835
248,358 {128,028} 120,330 208,388 - {88,058}
3,122,935 47,386 3,170,321 3,162,465 14,936 (7,080)
1,722,850 170,342 1,893,192 1,683,182 - -
192,716 64,063 256,778 187,654 70,361 {1,236)
4,534,782 61,103 1,596,885 1,539,587 © 8,131 50,167
45,160 435 45,506 45,486 140 -
720,550 {13,488} 707,062 705,851 046 165
743,145 272,017 1,015,162 768,548 251,542 {4.929)
3,834,951 71,454 3,506,405 3,885,795 - 20,610
134,400 - 434,400 134,400 - -
10,484 () 10,483 10,483 - -
13,928,418 590,956 14,819,375 14 195,622 352,248 {28,492}
- {416,864) {416,864) 415,911 (352,248} 480,530
- 5,000 5,000 10,575 - 5575
. 5,000 5,000 10,578 - 5,575
. (411,864) [411,864) 426,486 {362,245} 485,105
5,273,040 - 5,273,040 5,273,040 - -
% 5,273,040 § (411,864) § 4,861,176 $ 5,699,526 & (362,245) § 486,105
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
DECEMBER 31, 2010

The schedule of funding progress presented below provides a consolidated snapshot of the City's ability to
meet current and future liabilities with the plan assets. Of particular interest to most is the funded status ratio.
This ratio conveys a plan's level of assets to liabilities, an important indicator to determine the financial health
of the OPEB plan. The closer the plan is to a 100% funded status, the better position it will be in to meet all of
its future liabilities. The actuarial value of assets and actuarial accrued liability are obtained from the latest

actuarial report.

Actuarial
Accrued UAAL
Actuarial Liability Unfunded as a% of

Actuarial Value of {AAL)- AAL Funded Covered Covered
Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

""""" Date {(a) {b) {b-a) {a/b) {c) {(b-a)c)
7{1/2008 $ - $ 108,697 $ 106,697 0.0% 0.0%
71172009 $ - % 215071 % 215,0M 0.0% 0.0%
7/1/2010 % - $ 202616 $ 202,616 0.0% 0.0%
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-------- CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (1)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal
FEDERAL GRANTOR/ CFDA Federal
PROGRANM TITLE Number (2) Notes Expenditures (3)
L.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING
AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Direct Programs
Community Development Block Grants
Entittement Grants 14.218 3 920,608
Total U.S. Depariment of
Housing and Urban Development 920,606
IIIIIII U.5. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Passed through NYS Division of Criminal Justice
Services:
Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 2,769
Total U.S. Department of Justice 2,769
U.5. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Pass through NYS Department of Transportation:
Safe Routes to School Program 20.205 408,822
Total U.8. Department of Transporiation 408 822
TOTAL EXPFENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS $ 1,332,197

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
MOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Notes:
(1) Includes all major and nonmajor programs.
(2) Source: July 2010 Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance.

(3) Prepared on the "GAAP" basis of accounting and includes all federal program
expendifures.

(4) The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant
activity of the City of Dunkirk, New York. The information in this schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Therefore, some amounts presented in this
schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the general
purpose financial statements which are presented on the modified accrual basis.
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Jormson, MACKOWIAK
AND ASSOCIATES, LLP

Cartified Public Accountents & Consultents

70 East Main Sireat / Fredonia, New York 14063 / 716-672-4770 / Fax 7166791512

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

June 30, 2011

Honorable Mayor

Members of the City Council
Treasurer

City of Dunkirk

Dunkirk, New York 14048

We have audited the financial statemenis of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Dunkirk, New York, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, which
collectively comprise the City of Dunkirk, New York's basic financial statements
and have issued our report thereon dated June 30, 2011. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptrolier General of the United
States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Dunkirk, New
York's internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness -
of the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's
internal control over financial reporting.
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A deficiency in infermnal control exists when the design or operation of a control
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a
timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited
purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed fo
identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might be
deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did not identify
any deficiencies in internai conirol over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses, as defined above. However, we identified a certain
deficiency in internal control over financial reporting, described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, referenced as 10-C1,
that we consider to be significant deficiency in internal control over financial
reporting. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit aitention by those charged with governance.

Compliance and Other Matiers

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Dunkirk,
New York's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing
an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit,
and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the City of Dunkirk,
New York in a separate letter dated June 30, 2011.

The City of Dunkirk, New York’s response to the finding identified in our audit is
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. We
did not audit the City of Dunkirk, New York's response and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on it. :
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This report is intended solely for the information and use of the finance
committee, management, City Council, and federal awarding agencies and pass-
through entities. However this report is a maiter of public record and its
distribution is not limited.

ekt § Llonsciatnad, LLP

JOHNSON, MACKOWIAK AND ASSOCIATES, LLP
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Jornson, MAcCKOWIAK
AND ASSOCIATES, LLP

Cartified Public Accountants & Consultants

70 East Main Street / Fredonia, New York 14063 / 716-672-4770 / Fax 716-679-1512

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH
REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133 '

June 30, 2011

Honorable Mayor :
Members of the City Council
Treasurer

City of Dunkirk

Dunkirk, New York 14048

Compliance

We have audited the compliance of the City of Dunkirk, New York, with the types
of compliance requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the City of Dunkirk's
major federal program for the year ended December 31, 2010. The City of
Dunkirk, New York's major federal program is identified in the summary of
auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and -
questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts and grants applicable fo its major federal program is the responsibility
of the City of Dunkirk, New York's management. Our responsibility is fo express
an opinion on the City of Dunkirk, New York's compliance based on our audit.
The City of Dunkirk, New York's basic financial statements include the operations
of the Dunkirk Housing Authority, which received $1,312,857 in federal awards
that is not included in the schedule during the year ended December 31, 2010.
Our audit, described below, did not include the operations of the Dunkirk Housing
Authority because other auditors were engaged to perform such audit in
accordance with OMB Circular A-133.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and
OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material
effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a
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test basis, evidence about the City of Dunkirk, New York’s compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of
Dunkirk, New York's compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the City of Dunkirk, New York complied, in all material respects,
with the compliance requirements referred to above could have a direct and
material effect on its major federal program for the year ended December 31,
2010.

internal Control Over Compliance

The management of the City of Dunkirk, New York, is responsible for establishing
and maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the requirements
of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to federal programs. In
planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Dunkirk, New
York’'s internal control over compliance with the requirements that could have a
direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to determine the
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and
io test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB
Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal contro! over compliance. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Dunkirk, New York's
internal control over compliance.

Our consideration of internal contro! over compliance was for the limited purpose
described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses and therefore, there can be no assurance
that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses have been
identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control in over compliance exists when the design or
operation of a control over compliance does not allow management or
employees, in the normai course of performing their assigned functions, fo
prevent or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
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A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough fo merit attention by those charged with
governance. We consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned cosis as
items 10-01 to be a significant deficiency.

The City of Dunkirk, New York’s response to the finding identified in our audit is
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. We
did not audit the City of Dunkirk, New York's response and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on the response.,

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the finance
committee, management, City Council, others within the entity, federal awarding
and pass-through agencies. However, this report is a matter of public record and
its distribution is not limited.

JOHNSON, MACKOWIAK AND ASSCCIATES, LLP
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Section | - Summary of Auditors’ Resuits
Type of auditors’ report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered 1o be
material weakness{es)?

Noncompliance material to
financial statements noted?

Federal Awards

Internal controi over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered to be
material weakness(es)?

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance
for major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are

required to be reported in accordance
with section 510(a) of Circular A-1337?
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Unqualified

yes X

yes

ves A
yes X
yes X
Unqualified
yes X

ne

none reported

no

no

none reported

no



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS, continued
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

ldentification of major programs:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster

14,218 Community Development Block Grant

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and type B programs? $300,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? yes X _ho

Section Il — Financial Statement Findings

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, the City of Dunkirk, New York, had one
finding that were required to be reported in accordance with GAGAS.

10-01 Payroll Reconciliations

Condition: The City does not have a formal procedure to ensure that recongiliations of the
payroll account are completed on a monthly basis.

Criteria: The City must maintain proper records and reconcile these records to the general
ledger on a timely basis to ensure accurate accounting.

Effect: We encountered a situation in which the payroll subsidiary ledger differed
significantly from the general ledger. '

Cause: Adequate procedures were not in place to accurately reconcile the City's payroll
account.

Auditor's Recommendation: The City should implement policies and procedures to provide
that the reconciliation process takes place on a monthly basis.

Management's response; The City has taken steps to ensure that payroll reconciliations
are completed in a timely manner. :

Section ili - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, the City of Dunkirk, New York, we did not
have any findings that were considered Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Section | -~ Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered to be
material weakness(es)?

Noncompliance material to
financial statements noted?

Federal Awards

internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified’?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered to be
material weakness(es)?

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance
for major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are

required {o be reported in accordance
with section 510(a) of Circular A-1337
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yes X

yes

yes X
yes X
yes A
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ves X
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none reported
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS, continued
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster

14.218 Community Development Block Grant

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and type B programs? $300,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? yes X__no
Section Il — Financial Statement Findings

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, the City of Dunkirk, New York, had one
finding that were required fo be reported in accordance with GAGAS.

10-01 Payroll Reconciliations

Condition: The City does not have a formal procedure to ensure that reconciliations of the
payroll account are completed on a monthly basis.

Criteria: The City must maintain proper records and reconcile these records to the general
ledger on a timely basis to ensure accurate accounting.

Effect: We encountered a situation in which the payroll subsidiary ledger differed
significantly from the general ledger.

Cause: Adequate procedures were not in place to accurately reconcile the City's payroll
account.

Auditor's Recommendation: The City should implement policies and procedures to provide
that the reconciliation process takes place on a monthly basis.

Management’s response: The City has taken steps to ensure that payroll reconciliations
are completed in a timely manner.

Section Il — Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, the City of Dunkirk, New York, we did not
have any findings that were considered Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

e - There were no prior year A-133 findings.

\\\\\\\\
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK

SCHEDULE OF STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

NYSDOT

Contract
PROGRAM TITLE Number Expenditures
New York State Arterial Aid NfA $ 95,816

Consolidated Highway Improvement

Program (CHIPS) N/A 375,683
Safe Routes to School D032511 408,822
TOTAL STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED $ 880,321
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF STATE TRANSPORTATION
ASSISTANCE EXPENDED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

GENERAL

The accompanying Schedule of State Transportation Assistance Expended of City of Dunkirk, New
York, presents the activity of all financial assistance programs provided by the New York State
Department of Transportation.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying Schedule of State Transportation Expended is presented using the modified
accrual basis of accounting.

The amounts reported in the Schedule of State Transporiation assistance expended generally
were obtained from the appropriate financial reports for the applicable program and periods. The
amounts reported in the financial reports are prepared from records maintained for each program.
These records are periodically reconciled to the general ledger which is the source of the financial
statements.

INDIRECT COSTS
There are no indirect costs associated with these programs.

MATCHING COSTS

Matching costs, ie, the City's share of certain program costs, are not included in the reporied
expenditures.

AMOUNTS PAID TO SUBRECIPIENTS

There were no amounts paid to subrecipents.
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Jornson, Mackowiax
AND ASSOCIATES, LLP

Corffiad Public Accountants & Consuliants

70 East Main Street / Fredonia, New York 14063 / 716-672-4770 / Fax 716-679-1512

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND CONTROLS OVER
STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANGCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

June 30, 2011

Honorable Mayor

Members of the City Counci!
Treasurer

City of Dunkirk, New York 14048

Comupliance

We have audited the compliance of the City of Dunkirk, New York with the types of compliance
requirements described in Part 43 of the New York State Codification of Rules and regulations
(NYCRR) that are applicable to each state transportation assistance program tested for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The programs tested are identified in the summary of audit resuilts
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the
requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to each program tested is the
responsibility of the City of Dunkirk, New York's management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the City of Dunkirk, New York’s compliance based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards: the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Part 43 of NYCRR.
Those standards and Part 43 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above, that could have a direct and material effect on the state transportation assistance
programs tested, has occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about
the City of Dunkirk, New York's compliance with those requirements and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on
the City of Dunkirk, New York’s compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the City of Dunkirk, New York complied in all material respeacts with the
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each
of its state transporiation assistance programs tested for the year ended December 31, 2010.

internal Control Over Compliance

The management of the City of Dunkirk, New York is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants applicable to state transportation assistance programs, in planning and
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performing our audit, we considered the City of Dunkirk, New York’s internal control over
compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on state
transportation assistance programs to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on compliance, and to test and report on the internal conirol over
compliance in accordance with Part 43 of NYCRR, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control over
compliance.

A deficiency in control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a state fransportation assistance program on a timely basis. A material
weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state transportation assistance
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of the internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we
consider to be a material weakness, as defined above.

Schedule of State Transportation Assistance Expended

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Dunkirk, New York as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2010, and have issued our report thereon dated June 30, 2011. Our audit
was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the City of Dunkirk, New York’s
financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of state transportation
assistance expended is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Part 43 of
NYCRR, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, in our
opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements taken as a
whole.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City of Dunkirk, New York's
management and the New York State Department of Transportation. However, this report is a
matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

§ Lassolatrad, LLP,

S SR LY S N S~ 4

JOHNSON, MACKOWIAK AND ASSOCIATES, LLP
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Summary of Audit Results:

internal control over state transportation assistance expended:

e Material weakness(es) identified
» Reportable condition(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness(es)

Type of auditors' report issued on compliance
for programs tested:

Identification of State Transportation Assistance Programs Tested:

Name
Consolidated Highway improvement Program (CHIPS)
Safe Routes to échool
Compliance Findings and Questioned Costs:

No matters were reported.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
FOR STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

The Gity of Dunkirk, New York did not have any prior year findings.
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